California State University, Los Angeles Department of Political Science

Master of Public Administration Graduate Student Handbook

Academic Year 2017-2018



Table of Contents

MISSION STATEMENT AND STUDENT LEARNING OUTCOMES	4
CAREERS FOR MPA GRADUATES	5
THE MASTER OF PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION PROGRAM	6
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION	7
COMPREHENSIVE EXAMINATION	11
MASTER'S THESIS	12
STUDYING FOR THE MPA DEGREE	14
General Obligations and Honor Code	14
Your Program Plan	14
Advancement to Candidacy	15
Advising	15
Graduate Writing Proficiency Requirement	15
Internships	16
Registration for Courses	16
Incomplete Grades	16
Seven-Year Rule	16
Leave of Absence	17
Adding Courses After the Semester Has Begun	17
Dropping Courses After the Semester Has Begun	17
Your GPA	18
APPLICATION FOR GRADUATION	19
University Procedure	19
Department Procedure	19
SUMMARY CHECKLIST	20
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION FACULTY NUCLEUS	21
PAST PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION FACULTY AT CSULA	21
IMPORTANT CONTACTS AND OFFICES	22
MPA ADVISORY BOARD MEMBERS	23

PREFACE

This handbook describes the MPA program beginning in Fall Semester 2016. All graduate students admitted into the MPA program beginning in Fall Semester 2016 and beyond are subject to these requirements. Students who began this program before Fall Semester 2016 have the option of remaining in their original program, or adapting their coursework to the new program. Students who wish to continue with their original programs prior to Fall Semester 2016 will be held to the University Catalog requirements in force in the semester for which they were accepted into the program.

Semester MPA program – 36 units + Comp Exam					
REQUIRED CORE NOTE: Core courses are 3 units, Electives are 1 or 3 units	ELECTIVES – 9 UNITS (SELECT FROM BELOW)				
POLS 5700 Public Administration as a Field of Practice	POLS 5830 Seminar: Managing Social Policy				
POLS 5720 Organization & Management	POLS 5835 Sem: Arts and Cultural Administration				
POLS 5730 Public Sector Human Resources Management	POLS 5840 Sem: Issues in the Metro Area				
POLS 5740 Public Budgeting and Financial Administration	POLS 5845 Sem: Community Development Admin.				
MANAGEMENT PERSPECTIVES (SELECT 2)	POLS 5850 Sem: Reg., the Environ., and CA Public Policy				
POLS 5750 Third Sector and Nonprofit Orgs	1 UNIT ELECTIVES, POLS 5861-5866 Note: offerings in Summers and Intercessions				
POLS 5760 Managing Intergovernmental & Intersectoral Relations	POLS 5861 Personal Leadership and Dev. in Administration				
POLS 5770 E-Government and Management	POLS 5862 Effective Communication for Public & Nonprofit Admin.				
ANALYTICAL PERSPECTIVES (SELECT 2)	POLS 5863 Effective Public Sector HRM Practices				
POLS 5800 Data Analysis for Public & Nonprofit Managers	POLS 5864 Collaborative Governance				
POLS 5810 Policy Analysis for Public & Nonprofit Managers	POLS 5865 Negotiation & Conflict Mgmt. for Administrators				
POLS 5820 Program & Policy Implementation & Evaluation	POLS 5866 Public Sector Contracting Basics				
REQUIRED CAPSTONE	POLS 5955 (1-3 UNITS) Selected Issues in PA (topic varies; can be repeated for up to 6 units)				
POLS 5900 MPA Capstone	POLS 5980 Graduate Directed Study				
COMP EXAM -> POLS 5960	PUBLIC SECTOR OR NON-PROFIT INTERNSHIP Waived if student has relevant work experience				

MISSION STATEMENT AND STUDENT LEARNING OUTCOMES

The Master of Public Administration (MPA) Program at California State University, Los Angeles, prepares students for leadership by educating them for professional public and community service within a diverse and dynamic urban environment. In the program, students develop the following leadership capabilities:

- Knowledge about public administration theory, research and practice
- Analytical and critical thinking skills to inform public and community problem-solving and decision-making processes
- An understanding of the ethical basis for public service
- Effective intra-organizational, inter-organizational and public oral and written communication skills
- A respect for and ability to engage the diversity of perspectives and interests involved in local governance

Adopted: May 27, 2015

ACCREDITED BY THE NETWORK OF SCHOOLS OF PUBLIC POLICY, AFFAIRS AND ADMINISTRATION



The MPA program was reaccredited in July 2016 for a full six years. Accreditation is granted by NASPAA only after a rigorous process including a self-study evaluation and site visit from external evaluators. Accreditation is a guarantee of a recognized, high quality, well-run and up-to-date program. For more information, see: http://www.naspaa.org/about_naspaa/naspaa.asp.

CAREERS FOR MPA GRADUATES

Our graduates continue to work in a variety of careers in local, state and federal governments, as well as in non-profit organizations. They are primarily managers, analysts and policy specialists:

- Managers implement policies, allocating resources to achieve the objectives of the program and organization.
- Program managers administer programs: establishing objectives, stimulating productivity, motivating workers, reporting and evaluating work progress, structuring work, allocating resources, coping with internal and external political pressures, and ensuring that the public interest is reflected in the work of the agency.
- Staff managers support the work of program managers, performing such activities as budgeting and financial management, personnel and labor relations, management information systems, organizational analysis, and procurement of supplies and materials.
- Staff analysts develop ways to ensure that program objectives are met. They also look at new ways to meet the public's requests for service. A staff analyst must be familiar with research on social, economic, and environmental problems to propose potential courses of action to decision makers. They are the elements of the program usually involved in briefing papers. Staff analysts work in planning and evaluation units or budget divisions in government.
- Policy specialists, the counterparts of staff analysts, work in consulting firms, research institutes or non-profit organizations.

Some of the positions recent graduates have held are:

Human Relations Analyst, Los Angeles County
Appraisal Specialist, Assessor's Office, Los Angeles County
Manager, Aquatorium, City of Commerce
Community Residential Services Supervisor, Eastern Los Angeles Regional Center
Assistant Director of Finance, City of Bellflower
Environmental Supervisor, City of Los Angeles
Lieutenant, Special Operations Division, Police Department, City of Pasadena
Senior Investigator, State of California
Manager, Staff Relations, Fire Department, City of Los Angeles

THE MASTER OF PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION PROGRAM

Program Core

POLS 5700 Public Administration as a Field of Practice POLS 5720 Public Sector Organization and Management POLS 5730 Public Sector Human Resource Management POLS 5740 Public Budgeting and Financial Administration

Management Perspectives (Select 2)

POLS 5750 Third Sector and Non-Profit Management POLS 5760 Intergovernmental and Intersectoral Relations POLS 5770 E-Government and Management

Analytic Perspectives (Select 2)

POLS 5800 Data Analysis for Public and Nonprofit Managers POLS 5810 Policy Analysis for Public and Nonprofit Managers POLS 5820 Program Implementation and Evaluation

Program Electives

9 Units of Graduate Electives (3 units may be taken outside of the MPA program)

Program Capstone

POLS 5900 Capstone

Comprehensive Examination or Thesis

Internship

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION

PROGRAM CORE COURSES (3 units each): 12 Units (4 Courses)

POLS 5700 Public Administration as a Field of Practice

This course provides an introduction to the study of public administration as a field of practice and serves as a foundation for the MPA program. Students must take this course in their first semester.

POLS 5720 Public Sector Organization and Management

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. A study of the most relevant organization and management thinkers and issues. Topics include organization structures and theories of management in the public sector, decision-making, human relations, goal setting, and leadership in government.

POLS 5730 Public Sector Human Resource Management

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. In depth study of personnel and human resource management, providing an opportunity to analyze current issues. Case studies of personnel problems; examination of varying roles of boards, commissions and other legislative bodies; and new frontiers in personnel research and personnel legislation.

POLS 5740 Public Budgeting and Financial Administration

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. Concepts and implementation of budgeting and financial administration. Topics include issues and problems in budget authorization, execution and control, including public policy implications with a special emphasis on budgeting as a management tool.

MANAGEMENT PERSPECTVES (3 units each): 6 Units (Choose Any 2 Courses)

POLS 5750 Seminar: The Third Sector and Non-profit Organizations

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. Study of the increasingly integrated relationship between government and third-sector service providers; professional management of non-profit organizations in a complex environment; completion of a grant writing project.

POLS 5760 Managing Intergovernmental and Intersectoral Relations

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. An introduction to the dynamics and patterns of vertical and horizontal intergovernmental and intersectoral relations; governmental structure; incentives for different levels of government; relationships between and among local, state and federal governments; competition/conflict; cooperation; and collaborative models of decision making. In addition, the course provides participants the opportunity to use collaborative problem-solving skills to address regional policy challenges.

POLS 5770 E-Government and Management

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. The objective is to cover electronic and mobile government issues and applications. Management issues of particular concern include information policy and public access, transparency, privacy security and computer crime.

ANALYTIC PERSPECTIVES (3 units each): 6 Units (Choose Any 2 Courses)

POLS 5800 Data Analysis for Public and Nonprofit Managers

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission; POLS 2810 or equivalent. If you have not had a recent elementary statistics course you should take or sit-in on POLS 2810 or another similar course. In this course, you will work on the statistical and other techniques necessary to carry out research. The course covers different methods of conducting research in public and non-profit organizations, issues of measurement in social science research, review of descriptive statistics, introduction to a statistical software package, probability concepts and applications, sampling, inferential statistics and statistical significance, multivariate analysis, and communication of findings.

POLS 5810 Policy Analysis for Public and Nonprofit Managers

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. This course provides an introduction to policy analysis, providing a current assessment of how analysis is used in public and non-profit decision-making. It also provides practical experience with applied analysis.

POLS 5820 Policy and Program Implementation and Evaluation

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. This course covers conceptual issues and basic methods for policy and program implementation and evaluation for public and non-profit administrators.

ELECTIVES: 9 Units (Any Combination of 1- and 3-Unit Courses)

These should be chosen according to your interests; MPA graduate students may take one 4000-level POLS course or one course outside of the program with the MPA Advisor's prior consent.

3-Unit Electives

POLS 5830 Seminar: Managing Social Policy

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. The course examines social policy programs at the national level and in California. It explores the role of politics, media, interest groups, and industry in policy administration, and considers the tradeoffs, design and implementation of health, welfare, housing policies.

POLS 5835 Arts and Cultural Administration

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. This course examines the basic components of arts and cultural administration in government agencies and, to a lesser extent, nonprofits. Students will learn the foundation and history of arts and cultural administration, the impact of arts on society and the economy, how different types of arts and cultural facilities are managed as well as arts and cultural policies.

POLS 5840 Seminar: Issues in the Metropolitan Area

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. This seminar surveys the special problems of cities at the turn of the 21st century, focusing on the discovery of characteristics of the ideal community and their use in administration.

POLS 5845 Seminar: Community Development Administration

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. Theory and process of planned development; role of administration in formulating and implementing development goals at all political community levels; planning, strategy, obstacles, assistance, development of competent personnel and institution-building.

POLS 5850 Seminar: Regulation, the Environment and California Public Policy

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. This seminar ties together three crucial topics that public administrators in California need to understand: regulation; environmental problems, particularly the problems of air quality, water quality and toxic waste disposal; and the study of California policy.

POLS 5955 Selected Issues in Public Administration

Prerequisites: POLS 5700 or instructor's permission. This seminar involves the presentation and discussion of selected issues and trends in administrative processes at all levels of government. It may be taken more than once for credit (to a maximum of 6 units).

POLS 5980 Graduate Directed Study

Prerequisites: POLS 5700. Instructor consent to act as sponsor. Independent study of advanced topics in the field; regular conferences with sponsor. May be repeated twice for a maximum total of 6 units. Students contemplating doing a thesis may use POLS 5980 as a course in which they complete their 20-30 page proposal.

1-Unit Electives

POLS 5861 Personal Leadership and Development in Administration

Prerequisites: None. This elective course addresses elements of leadership, including change, your "style," communication, teambuilding, planning, meeting management, working with internal and external constituencies, ethics.

POLS 5862 Effective Communication for Public and Non-Profit Administrators

Prerequisites: None. This elective course addresses elements of effective organizational communication, including theories of managerial effectiveness, active listening, verbal and nonverbal cues, audience awareness, presentation skills, communication barriers, email and social media, and ethics.

POLS 5864 Collaborative Governance

Prerequisites: None. This elective course addresses the changing nature of governance skills, which increasingly require intergovernmental and intersectoral cooperation to address complex public problems.

POLS 5865 Negotiation and Conflict Management for Administrators

Prerequisites: None. This elective course addresses the question, "what is the best way for people to deal with their differences?" Introduction to conflict in organizations, and methods of negotiating differences for positive outcomes.

POL 5866 Public Sector Contracting Basics

Prerequisites: None. The elective course introduces contracting in the public and nonprofit sectors; types of contracts; negotiating, writing, monitoring, revising contracts; accountability and responsibilities; ethics and integrity in procurement.

POLS 5955 Selected Issues in Public Administration

Prerequisites: None. This seminar involves the presentation and discussion of selected issues and trends in administrative processes at all levels of government. It may be taken more than once for credit (to a maximum of 6 units).

CAPSTONE SEMINAR: 3 Units (1 Course)

POLS 5900 MPA Capstone

Prerequisites: Advanced to candidacy and satisfactory completion of the WPE; should be taken in last semester of program. Involves synthesis and practical application of public administration knowledge and skills acquired in the program. Emphasis on critical analysis of case studies and strategic assessment of real-world organizational issues.

COMPREHENSIVE EXAMINATION OR THESIS

The culminating experience of your degree program is writing a comprehensive examination or thesis. The majority of MPA students have chosen the comprehensive examination because it has been difficult for working professionals to devote sufficient time and commitment to a thesis. You may take the comprehensive examination (POLS 5960) in the same semester as POLS 5900 MPA Capstone, which should be taken in your last semester of the program. The thesis option remains available.

INTERNSHIP

You must complete the equivalent of a one-semester internship in a public or non-profit organization or an approved field project. You may be able to substitute appropriate professional experience for the internship. To request this waiver, you must complete the Internship Waiver Form and submit it to the MPA Advisor for consideration. There is a link on the MPA Web site to the Internship Waiver Form, and the form is distributed at the MPA New Graduate Student Orientation.

COMPREHENSIVE EXAMINATION

You may ONLY take the comprehensive examination in the last semester of your program, if you have:

- Maintained a minimum 3.0 average in your program
- · Completed your Writing Proficiency Exam, if required
- Received Advanced Candidacy status
- Completed all outstanding incomplete grades
- Completed your internship requirement

During the registration period for your last semester in the program, you should request a permit from the Graduate Coordinator, and register for POLS 5960 via the G.E.T. registration system. The fee for the examination is currently \$10. No late "adds" are allowed, which means you must add the course by the third week of the semester in which you plan to take the examination.

The exam is administered in conjunction with POLS 5900 Capstone, which you also must take in your last semester. The exam will consist of an individual written case analysis that requires students to apply and demonstrate knowledge and skills learned in the program. Students will submit a signed honor pledge with the case, which will be subject to review using plagiarism detection software. The honor pledge upholds the ethical standards of the discipline of public administration and its professional association, the American Society for Public Administration, with this statement:

The Honor System in the MPA program depends upon adherence of all members of the program to high standards of academic behavior. Acts constituting a violation of the Honor Code include giving assistance in a formal academic exercise without due acknowledgement; plagiarism; the submission of the same work of academic credit more than once without permission; willful falsification of data, information or citation; and the failure to take constructive action in the event of committing or observing a violation or apparent violation.

I certify that I have neither given nor obtained assistance in this formal academic exercise without acknowledgement, that I have not plagiarized, that I am not submitting the same work for academic credit without permission, that I have not willfully falsified data, information, or citation, and that I have not failed to take constructive action in the event of committing or observing a violation or apparent violation of this Honor Code.

Each case study analysis is graded anonymously as high pass, pass or no pass by two faculty members for:

- 1. Knowledge of and ability to express theories and concepts and apply them.
- 2. Clarity in argument
- 3. Adequacy and relevance of facts, references, and data
- 4. Organization of material in a coherent, logical form
- 5. Professionalism in presentation

If you do not pass the examination, you may re-take the examination. The College of Natural and Social Sciences allows only three attempts at the comprehensive examination.

MASTER'S THESIS

You may write a Master's Thesis instead of taking the comprehensive examination. To do so you must have better than a 3.5 GPA in your coursework, a Public Administration faculty member willing to supervise the thesis, a proposal deemed acceptable by the faculty, and two other members of the committee acceptable to the MPA Graduate Advisor and the Political Science Department Chair. Students should take caution with a thesis. In our experience, courses often expire under the seven-year rule due to unfinished Master's theses. Sample theses are available in the Department and Library.

Title 5 of California's Education Code requires that theses meet the following standard:

A thesis is the written product of a systematic study of a significant problem. It identifies the problem, states the major assumptions, explains the significance of the undertaking, sets forth the sources for and methods of gathering information, analyzes the data, and offers a conclusion or recommendations. The finished product evidences originality, critical and independent thinking, appropriate organization and format, and thorough documentation.

Thesis Proposals

A 15- to 25-page proposal is required. Each faculty member on your committee must sign off on the proposal. It should have the following sections:

- 1. A statement of the problem and its significance. What problem will the thesis investigate? How does that problem relate to current problems in the field, to the public administration/public policy literature, etc.? How significant is the problem compared with other problems that might be investigated for these kinds of governments, policies, etc.?
- 2. What literature exists on this general problem area? What has been written about the problem in the last two decades in the public administration or public policy literature? What are the two or three central themes of that literature? What are the gaps in that literature regarding your issue of focus?
- 3. What hypotheses will you collect evidence on? Most theses endeavor to collect evidence concerning some problem, either in a case study or some more systematic gathering of evidence (survey, use of existing Census or survey data, etc.). What are the two or three (or more) hypotheses for which we are collecting evidence? These should relate directly to the literature in the second part of the proposal.
- 4. What data or information will be collected as evidence concerning the hypotheses? What will be the source of the data, and what problems might be expected to arise as a result of the data collection method? What are the weaknesses of this method? The strengths? How will you compensate for the weaknesses? How original is the data?
- 5. *The Outcome of the Study.* Give us several paragraphs that tell us what you expect to find and why it will be significant. Be sure to explain fully what will be original about the thesis compared to other work.

Usually, the proposal can become with revision the first chapter of the thesis. A thesis is expected to be a well-written, original, piece of work which states a problem, explores how it has been treated in the literature, states one or more hypotheses, indicates the data or information that will be used to confirm/disconfirm the hypotheses, contains one or more chapters which explain the findings of the analysis, and one or more chapters which draw conclusions from the study.

MPA CURRICULUM MAP OF COURSES AND STUDENT LEARNING OUTCOMES

MPA Student Learning Outcomes	•	Knowledge about PA Communication skills Respect for diversity	 Analytical and critical thinking skills Communication skills 	Analytical and critical thinking skills	Understanding of the ethical basis for public service	Communication skillsRespect for diversity
POLS 5700 Foundations		1	I	1	I, A	I
POLS 5720 Org & Mgt		I		I, P	ı	Р
POLS 5730 HRM		Р		P	P	I
POLS 5740 Budgeting		P	I	P	P	Р
MANAGEMENT PERSPECTIVES						
POLS 5670 Non-Profit Mgt		P	P	P	Р	Р
POLS 5760 IG Relations		P	P		P	Р
POLS 5770 E-Governance		Р	P			P
ANALYTIC PERSPECTIVES						
POLS 5800 Data Analysis			P	P		Р
POLS 5810 Policy Analysis			P	P		Р
POLS 5820 Program Evaluation			P	P		Р
CULMINATING EXPERIENCE						
POLS 5900 Capstone		Р	P	P	P	Р
POLS 5960 Comp Exam			А	А	А	А
I = INTRO, P = PRACTI	CE, A	A = ASSESS	•			

STUDYING FOR THE MPA DEGREE

Once you have been accepted into the MPA program, your job is to work your way through the courses, culminating either with the comprehensive examination or thesis. The MPA Graduate Advisor, public administration faculty and the Graduate Coordinator in the department office will assist you as much as we can. But remember – it is your responsibility to ensure that you fulfill all the degree requirements, keep track of the courses you complete, and maintain good standing in the program. If you have any questions or find difficulties in completing your program, you should immediately talk with the MPA Graduate Advisor. The following notes are to help guide you and familiarize you with the most important regulations. For further details, you should consult the University Catalog.

General Obligations and Honor Code

Our program is conducted in the spirit of adult education, which assumes that every individual student bears responsibility for ethical conduct. Your admission into the MPA program assumes as a minimum acceptance of the following Honor Code:

The Honor System in the MPA program depends upon adherence of all members of the program to high standards of academic behavior. Acts constituting a violation of the Honor Code include giving or obtaining assistance in a formal academic exercise without due acknowledgement; plagiarism, the submission of the same work for academic credit more than once without permission; willful falsification of data, information or citation; and the failure to take constructive action in the event of committing or observing a violation or apparent violation.

You additionally are expected to exercise courtesy to faculty, staff and fellow students; respect the facilities and amenities of the University; and observe common rules regarding classroom behavior, punctuality and timely fulfillment of assignments. Students who contribute actively to classroom discussions, interact with their colleagues, and avail themselves of the multiple opportunities for education offered through their courses and University activities generally gain a good deal more from their degree programs than those who see the degree simply as something to be gotten through as quickly and with as little effort as possible.

Your Program Plan

When accepted by the Department of Political Science into the MPA degree program, you must file a program plan. The program plan lists the courses you need to take to receive the degree. It represents a contract between you and the University, and may only be changed (by addition or substitution of other courses) through approval of the MPA Graduate Advisor and Department Chair.

Your program consists of a minimum of 36 semester units plus a comprehensive examination or thesis. You must complete your approved program with a grade point average of 3.0 ("B" average) or higher. Courses with grades below a C must be repeated.

The Graduate Coordinator will send your program plan to you, and you should discuss it with the MPA Graduate Advisor and make sure you understand all its requirements. The program plan has to be signed by you, the MPA Graduate Advisor and the Department Chair.

Remember: You are responsible for ensuring that you fulfill the requirements of your program plan. You should keep a copy, and as you complete each course you should keep track of the semester you took it and the grade you received. You are welcome to take additional courses; however, only those approved and officially substituted by the MPA Graduate Advisor may be counted toward your program. If changes or substitutions are approved for your program, you should make sure these have been properly recorded in your file and the necessary paperwork completed.

Advancement to Candidacy

All graduate students must be advanced to candidacy to complete their graduate degree. After successful completion of 12 units (4 courses) on your official program, please fill out the MPA program's advancement to candidacy form—available on the Web site and in the Political Science Department—and submit the form to the Political Science Department. Once you advance to candidacy, you cannot take a leave of absence and must maintain continuous enrollment. To advance to candidacy, the following conditions must be met:

- Completion of 12 semester units of 5000-level courses with a cumulative minimum GPA of 3.0
- Passage of the Writing Proficiency Exam/Graduate Writing Record Assessment, if required

Advising

At the beginning of your studies, you should meet with the MPA Graduate Advisor to discuss your program plan. Although the program is fairly straightforward, you should periodically check with the MPA Graduate Advisor or a public administration faculty member to see that you are on the right track. If you want to change your program, substitute a course or add a course not on your program, you should see the MPA Graduate Advisor to gain approval and ensure an official change is made. MPA faculty office hours are posted on the Political Science Web site and outside the Department office. You may sign up for an appointment in person (office hours sign-in sheets are posted outside faculty office doors), or via telephone or e-mail. You should note that there are no faculty office hours between semesters, during final examination weeks or during the summer semester if faculty are off-duty.

Remember: It is solely your responsibility to plan your program so that you complete your degree efficiently and comfortably. You should make sure that you consult the MPA Graduate Advisor regularly to ensure you are meeting all requirements.

Graduate Writing Proficiency Requirement

Graduate students who received their undergraduate degree from a university where English was not the language of instruction must take the Graduate Writing Proficiency Examination (UNIV 4000), which is offered each semester, by the end of your second semester in residence or the completion of 12 units, whichever comes later. Graduate students who received their undergraduate degree from a university with English as the language of instruction do not need to the Writing Proficiency Exam.

Internships

The MPA program requires an internship. You must complete the equivalent of a one semester internship in public administration, a non-profit organization or an approved field project. Appropriate professional experience may be substituted for an internship. Most students can use their professional experience to fulfill this requirement. To qualify, experience must be professional and/or administrative in nature as opposed to a clerical-level position. You can request an internship waiver by completing the MPA Internship Waiver Form and submitting it to the MPA Graduate Advisor for consideration.

Registration for Courses

Your registration dates and deadlines are indicated in your personal G.E.T Account (NOTE: The University requires that you pay the registration fees prior to registering). Two MPA courses require permission to register: POLS 5700 (all newly admitted MPA grad students are given a permit and must register for this course in the first semester of attendance) and POLS 5960, the exit exam. If you register for the Capstone Course (POLS 5900) prior to your last semester, you will be dropped from that course during the pre-registration period. A full-time course load for graduate students is 8 units, and you should not register for more than three 3-unit, 5000-level courses.

Incomplete Grades

Students who do not complete the work for a particular course may be granted an "incomplete" grade with the instructor's permission. Students have up to but no longer than ONE calendar year to make up the incomplete regardless of breaks in attendance, a leave of absence, etc. The official policy states that the single year may be extended prior to the expiration of the one-year period by the College Graduate Dean, "for contingencies such as, but not limited to, military service and health problems or an incapacitating nature verified by a physician's statement."

Incomplete grades that are not made up become graded IC (Incomplete Charged) and are factored into the overall GPA as a grade of "F."

Seven-Year Rule

You have seven years to finish your degree once you start taking 5000-level courses on your program. Courses at CSULA expire seven years after they are taken, and they must be re-taken for them to count toward your degree. The College allows three courses to be petitioned for renewal, but students may only petition for revalidation one time. Needless to say, re-taking courses involves considerable inconvenience and cost, and the whole procedure has to be agreed upon by the College Graduate Studies Sub-Committee, which in the past has required an explanation in person as to why you did not complete the coursework within the normal timeframe.

Speaking practically, the "seven-year rule" means that the University's expectation is that you will work steadily on your program once you commence. An extended leave of absence for whatever reason may involve re-taking courses because of their expiration or may result in your not being able to complete the requirements for a Master's degree.

Leave of Absence

If you intend to interrupt attendance for more than one semester, you must file an application for Academic Leave, which can be granted for up to two semesters. Granting Academic Leave is routine, but if you do not file for a Leave of Absence, you will need to reapply for admission. If you are readmitted, you will be subject to the catalog requirements in force (including any new requirements) when you return to your studies.

Adding Courses After the Semester Has Begun

The last day to add a course with the instructor's consent is the same day of the third week as the day the class began if the course is not fully enrolled; however, adding a course after the first week is NOT recommended unless there are special circumstances because graduate courses meet only once per week and cover extensive material each week.

Dropping Courses After the Semester Has Begun

The policy on dropping or withdrawing from courses is one of the areas where CSULA is very different from other universities and causes more problems for students than most other areas of policy.

First, you get a free drop during the registration period BEFORE the semester begins or during the first six (6) days of the semester. This means one week ONLY. No signatures are required. You can drop a course via the G.E.T. registration system.

After the first week, you can withdraw from a course with the instructor and Department Chair's signatures, and you will receive a "W" on your grade report. Current policy allows you to accumulate a maximum of 18 units of "W" grades. After 18 units of "W" grades, you will not be permitted to withdraw from a course once the semester has started.

After the 11th week, you only can withdraw for "extremely serious and compelling reasons," which usually turn out to be serious and extreme cases of medical problems or changes in work hours. You will need the instructor, Department Chair and Dean's signatures, and you will have to provide outside, written verification of the reasons for the drop. This process typically requires that you drop all enrolled courses and not just one course.

Collecting signatures during the 12th to 15th weeks in the semester is difficult, so do not wait until Thursday or Friday and expect that the faculty, Chair and Dean will be available to sign your form. Start early.

Be very careful of these rules! If you do not withdraw properly or wait too long, you will receive a WU for the courses, which stands for "withdrawal unauthorized" and counts on your GPA as a grade of "F."

Your GPA

Graduate students must have a cumulative GPA of 3.0 or above in the courses on their graduate programs. Anything less is unacceptable, and a student in this position initially is placed on academic probation and then disqualified from further classes if their GPA is not raised to 3.0 within 12 units or two semesters in residence, whichever is later. Courses for graduate students also cannot be renewed (retaken and replaced with a higher grade). Disqualification means that you are no longer allowed to continue in the MPA program.

There is a big difference between graduate students and undergraduates in this respect; if your GPA is below 3.0, you only can take the courses on your program and two additional courses to raise it. You cannot take an unlimited number of courses to raise your GPA. We are limited by University rules to the addition of only two courses to your program. Obviously, it is better never to arrive at this situation than to have to get out of it.

APPLICATION FOR GRADUATION

University Procedure

The University processes applications for graduation three times a year (Fall, Spring and Summer). The University commencement ceremony is held only once in the Spring Semester. Students who wish to have their name printed in the booklet for the Spring ceremony must file by the previous Fall or the Spring and Summer semesters of the current year. For example, May 2018 graduation candidates would include those who filed for the Fall 2017, Spring 2018 and Summer 2018 graduation.

It is solely the student's responsibility to file for graduation during the filing periods that are "printed" in the semester "Schedule of Classes" (go to http://www.calstatela.edu/classschedule to select the semester you are in, and then click on the "Important Dates" link). The University's Graduation Information and Graduation Application can be found here: http://www.calstatela.edu/graduation.

Completion of the MPA degree is fulfilled by the successful passage of the comprehensive exam or completion of a thesis. MPA candidates must file for the appropriate semester that they anticipate they will attempt the comprehensive examination.

Note: If you do not pass the exam, you are allowed to repeat it the next time the exam is given. It is the policy of the Graduation Office to roll applicants' graduation applications to the next semester if they do not complete all the degree requirements by the semester filed. For MPA candidates, the consequence is that should you not pass the comps in the Fall, your application would be forwarded to the Spring semester. The exam is not given in Summer semesters since faculty are not on duty to grade them.

Department Procedure

Bring your <u>paid</u> Graduation Application to the Political Science Department Office for the Graduate Coordinator to stamp, verify that all requisite information is correct and to record that you have applied for graduation. Your application then will be forwarded to the College of Natural and Social Science Dean's Office and the University Graduation Office for processing.

SUMMARY CHECKLIST

Once you have received your letter admitting you to both the University and the MPA program, you may begin working toward your degree. This checklist summarizes the process outlined in the Handbook.

- 1. Attend the MPA New Student Orientation and follow up by making an appointment with the MPA Graduate Advisor to discuss your program plan.
- 2. Take the Writing Proficiency Examination (UNIV 4000) within two semesters of starting courses, if you are required to take it.
- 3. Discuss with the MPA Graduate Advisor whether you need an internship, or whether it will be waived due to your professional experience. Complete and submit the Internship Waiver Form to the Graduate Coordinator in the Political Science Department. If you need an internship, start planning now.
- 4. Begin your program with the required introductory course POLS 5700 in the first semester admitted.
- 5. Continue with your core and elective courses. Consult the two-year MPA planning schedule to see when courses will be offered (this schedule is tentative, but efforts will be made to adhere to it).
- 6. Registering for 8 units of 5000-level courses per semester constitutes a full-time course load, although most students will take 6 units (two 3-unit courses) of 5000-level courses due to work and personal commitments. Taking more than three 3-unit courses is not recommended. Plan to register early to get the courses you wish to take.
- 7. You need to maintain a B average (3.0) on your 36-unit program. If you drop below a B, you will be placed on academic probation. If you cannot get up to a B average with the courses left on your program, we can add only two courses to the program to make up for the deficiency.
- 8. After completing 12 units on your program with a minimum B average and passing the Writing Proficiency Exam, you should submit a form to receive Advanced Candidacy standing.
- 9. Think about how the MPA courses fit together for you, and look ahead to the comprehensive exit examination and prepare yourself to complete it successfully.
- 10. In your last semester, you may take the comprehensive examination. You need to request a permit from the Graduate Coordinator to register for POLS 5960. You register for it as you would for any course, except that this course has a fee of \$10.
- 11. Students need to apply for graduation for the semester in which they take the comprehensive examinations plan ahead. The application filing periods, which typically are one semester in advance of the graduating semester, are published here: http://www.calstatela.edu/graduation. It is the student's responsibility to file by the listed deadline. Please contact the Graduate Coordinator with any questions.
- 12. If you wish to write a thesis, you should consult with a faculty advisor early in your program, and you should be aware that an acceptable thesis usually takes at least a year and usually more to complete.
- 13. You should become familiar with the University Catalog sections on the Department and graduate study generally in force when you began study. The University Catalog can be accessed here: http://ecatalog.calstatela.edu/index.php.

PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION FACULTY NUCLEUS

Jessica DeShazo, Ph.D. (Northern Arizona University, 2014). Assistant Professor. Public Administration and Public Policy, Public Budgeting, Environmental Policy and Administration.

Chongmyoung Lee, Ph.D. (North Carolina State University, 2014). Assistant Professor. Public and Non-Profit Management, Performance Measurement and Management, Research Methods and Quantitative Analysis, Microeconomics and Public Finance, Organizational Studies.

Marla Parker, Ph.D. (University of Illinois at Chicago, 2014). Assistant Professor. Public Management, Public Values, Science and Technology Policy and Higher Education, Diversity and Cultural Competency.

Ellen Shiau, Ph.D. (University of Southern California, 2012). Associate Professor. Urban Politics and Public Policy, Civic Engagement, Nonprofit Organizations, GIS Methods and Analysis.

PAST PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION FACULTY AT CSULA

The MPA program at Cal State LA has existed since the 1950s. The contributions of the following MPA faculty, to the evolution of our program (as well as the Department and University) and to the field of public administration, are recognized and appreciated. The timeline of dates of service is provided.

Arthur J. Misner (1955-1983)
Eugene P. Dvorin (1958-1992)
Robert B. Callahan (1960-1983)
Robert H. Simmons (1962-1985)
George Litke (1963-1992)
Vergil Stevens (1963-1985)
J. Theodore Anagnoson (1983-2006)
Byran O. Jackson (1986-1992)
Naomi J. Caiden (1993-2008)
Siegrun Fox Freyss (1996-2013)

Greg Andranovich (1990-2018)

Stephen K. Ma (1990-2015)

IMPORTANT CONTACTS AND OFFICES

Public Administration Faculty and Staff

The Political Science Department is located in the Engineering and Technology Building, Room A524.

Jessica DeShazo, Ph.D. Assistant Professor (323) 343-2245, jdeshaz@calstatela.edu

Chongmyoung Lee, Ph.D. Assistant Professor (323) 343-2234, clee140@calstatela.edu

Marla Parker, Ph.D. Assistant Professor (323) 343-2248, mparke17@calstatela.edu

Ellen Shiau, Ph.D. Associate Professor (323) 343-5826, eshiau@calstatela.edu Ms. Marilyn Orozco Administrative Support Coordinator (323) 343-2230, morozc44@calstatela.edu

Ms. Jacqueline Escamilla Graduate Coordinator (323) 343-2230, jescam11@calstatela.edu

Office of the Dean, College of Natural and Social Sciences

Wallis Annenberg Integrated Science Complex, Wing B, Room 223

Pamela Scott-Johnson, Ph.D. Dean

(323) 343-2000

Nancy McQueen, Ph.D. Associate Dean (323) 343-2205

Cheryl Koos Associate Dean (323) 343-2205 Ms. Amy Miller Administrative Assistant KH-D1051, (323) 343-2205, amiller@calstatela.edu

Office of Graduate Studies and Research

Administration, Room 710 323-343-3820 fax 323-343-6424 http://www.calstatela.edu/graduatestudies

MPA ADVISORY BOARD MEMBERS

Robert Barker, Los Angeles County Dept. of Public Works

Johanna Bonillo, American Red Cross, Los Angeles Region

Fredy Ceja, Los Angeles City Council District #1 Office

Paul Chang, U.S. Dept. of Labor Wage and Hour Division

Paola Ferrari, Los Angeles Airports

Sam Gonzalez, Los Angeles Unified School District

Sergio Gonzalez, City of South Pasadena

Luis Gutierrez, Los Angeles Urban Renewal Network

Jane Hansen, CSU Fullerton

Syed Hussain, East Los Angeles Community College

Thomas Lynch, City of Norwalk

Mabel Munoz, Los Angeles County Dept. of Mental Health

Capri Maddox, Office of the Los Angeles City Attorney

Michael Paules, (ret.) City of San Gabriel

Fernanda Palacios, City of Huntington Park

Claudia Rincon, Housing Authority of the County of Los Angeles

Nancy Rodriguez, American Red Cross, Los Angeles Region

Mae Santos, CSULA

Edith Williams, Los Angeles Dept. of Water and Power